A. Identity of Petitioner. 

Petitioner, Da Vita Health Care Partners Inc. ("Da Vita"), petitions 

for the relief set forth below. 

B. Court of Appeals Decision. 

Da Vita petitions for review of the published decision terminating 

review, filed on December 28, 2015, by Division I of the Court of 

Appeals. A copy of the decision is attached to this Petition. 

C. Statement of Issues Presented for Review. 

The Court of Appeals' decision raises the following Issues 

warranting Supreme Court review: 

1. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to interpret WAC 

246-310-288 ("Section 288"), the "Kidney disease treatment centers-Tie

breakers" adopted by the Washington State Department of Health (the 

"Department") to create a consistent, objective, and balanced standard for 

choosing between competing Certificate of Need ("CON") applications to 

establish or expand kidney dialysis facilities, to mean that the stated 

factors to decide between competing applications are not used if there are 

other factors on which one application can be said to be superior to the 

other, contrary to the language and structure of Section 288 and the 

Department's intent in adopting the regulation? 
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Da Vita submits that this was error, and that by failing to correctly 

interpret Section 288 pursuant to the principles of regulatory 

interpretation, the Court of Appeals' decision has distorted the approval 

process for kidney dialysis facilities in Washington and nullified the 

Department's intent in adopting Section 288. 

2. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to interpret Section 

288 to mean that competing kidney dialysis facility CON applications may 

be compared solely on cost, without regard to the other factors identified 

in Section 288, which will preserve dialysis-provider monopolies, because 

they can be expanded at lower cost than new facilities can be built, and 

deprive dialysis patients of a choice of providers and new locations at 

which they may obtain care? 

DaVita submits that this was error, and that the Court of Appeals' 

misinterpretation of Section 288 will limit the options available to dialysis 

patients by preserving provider monopolies and preventing new facilities 

from being approved. 

* * * 

These issues warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because they 

involve matters of "substantial public interest that should be determined 

by the Supreme Court." 

-2-



D. Statement of the Case. 

1. Kidney dialysis saves lives. 

The loss of kidney function is normally irreversible. End-Stage 

Renal Disease ("ESRD") is a condition of advanced kidney impairment. 

There are approximately 382,000 ESRD patients in the United States. For 

these individuals, there are only two methods of sustaining life: kidney 

transplantation or dialysis. Administrative Record ("AR") 2098. 

Dialysis refers to the removal of toxins, fluids, and salt from the 

blood of ESRD patients by artificial means. ESRD patients generally 

require dialysis at least three times a week for the rest of their lives. 

AR 2098. Each treatment takes about four hours. AR 1630. 

2. CON approval is required to establish or expand kidney 
dialysis facilities. 

In Washington, healthcare providers must obtain CON approval 

from the Department before establishing or expanding certain types of 

healthcare facilities. See RCW 70.38.105(4); WAC 246-310-020(1). The 

Department will issue a CON only if it determines that the proposed 

facility is needed by the population to be served and satisfies certain other 

criteria. See RCW 70.3 8.115(2); WAC 246-310-200. Kidney dialysis 

facilities are among the types of healthcare facilities requiring CON 

approval. See RCW 70.38.105(4)(a); RCW 70.38.025(6); see also WAC 

246-31 0-020( 1 )(a); WAC 246-310-01 0(26). 
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3. The Department has adopted a consistent, objective, 
balanced standard to decide between competing kidney 
dialysis facility applications. 

The Department is required to evaluate CON applications based on 

the standards set forth in its regulations. See WAC 246-31 0-200(2)(a)(i). 

All CON applications are reviewed under several general criteria. See 

WAC 246-310-200 (bases for findings); WAC 246-310-210 (need); WAC 

246-310-220 (financial feasibility); WAC 246-310-230 (structure and 

process of care); WAC 246-310-240 (cost containment). The Department 

also has adopted specific criteria to review certain types of facilities, 

including kidney dialysis facilities. See WAC 246-310-280 et seq. 

Historically, the regulations governing dialysis applications did not 

identify specific standards for comparative evaluation of two or more 

competing applications, i.e., the criteria on which the Department should 

choose between two or more qualifying projects, when there is not 

sufficient need to warrant approval of both. Therefore, the Department 

relied upon a general CON criterion that "[s]uperior alternatives, in terms 

of cost, efficiency, or effectiveness, are not available or practicable" to 

determine which project should be approved. WAC 246-310-240(1). As 

might be expected, evaluating competing applications under a general 

"superiority" standard resulted, in practice, in the use of ad hoc criteria. 
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The opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, in Da Vita, Inc. v. 

Department of Health, 137 Wn. App. 174 (2007), arose out of just such a 

situation. The Department approved DaVita's application over the 

competing appli~ation of Olympic Peninsula Kidney Center ("OPKC"), 

because Da Vita would add a new choice of provider in the planning area; 

the presiding officer in the adjudicative proceeding commenced by OPKC 

reversed and approved OPKC's application over DaVita's application, 

because OPKC's project was lower cost and could be completed more 

quickly. See DaVita, 137 Wn. App. at 178-80. 

This historical approach-in which comparative rev1ew of 

competing dialysis applications was conducted using ad hoc 

standards; applicants could not know on what basis competing 

applications would be evaluated; and the criteria varied from application 

to application and from decision-maker to decision-maker-persisted for 

years. It finally was eliminated, or should have been, when the Department 

adopted Section 288. 

Section 288 creates a standard for the Department to follow in 

deciding between competing dialysis applications. It does so by 

identifying nine objective criteria, each of which is worth one point. See 

WAC 246-310-288. They are (1) provision of training services; (2) 

provision of a private room for patients requiring isolation; (3) provision 
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of a permanent bed station; ( 4) provision of an evening shift; ( 5) provision 

of the number of stations projected to be needed; (6) role as a historical 

provider; (7) lowest capital expenditure; (8) geographic diversity; and (9) 

provider choice. See id. Whichever applicant receives more points is 

awarded the CON. If the applicants receive the same number of points, 

both are approved, with the needed stations split between them. See id. 

The Department's rulemaking history underscores that Section 288 

was adopted to "provide clarity and consistency for applicants because 

they will know how stations will be awarded in the event of a tied 

decision." See Significant Analysis, Rules Concerning Kidney Dialysis 

Treatment Centers, Revision of WAC 246-310-010 and 280 (July 2006). 

The adoption of Section 288 accomplished this. As the Department 

explained in its evaluation in this matter, "[t]he tie-breaker criteria are 

objective measures used to compare competing projects and make the 

determination between two or more approvable projects which is the best 

alternative." AR 2448. The Department accordingly uses these criteria as 

the exclusive basis to compare competing applications. AR 2449-50. 

4. Da Vita and NKC apply to meet the need for additional 
dialysis stations in King County Planning Area #4. 

King County Planning Area #4 is a geographic area south of 

Seattle containing Burien, Des Moines, Normandy Park, SeaTac, and 
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Tukwila. See WAC 246-310-280(9)(a) (defining planning area). More 

than 100,000 people live in the planning area. AR 1791. It currently is 

served by a single kidney disease treatment center, NKC's 25-station 

facility in SeaTac. AR 2430. Based on the Department's projections, five 

additional dialysis stations are needed in the planning area. AR 2429-30. 

Da Vita and NKC each submitted CON applications to meet this 

need. AR 2426. Da Vita applied to build a new, 5-station facility in Des 

Moines. AR 1773-2293. NKC applied to add five stations to its existing 

facility in SeaTac. AR 2477-2616. 

Da Vita and NKC both are highly-regarded, high-quality providers 

of kidney dialysis services, with extensive experience applying for CONs 

to establish or expand dialysis facilities in Washington. At the time of the 

applications at issue, DaVita operated twenty-five dialysis facilities 

statewide. AR 2422. NKC operated fifteen, all but one in King County. 

AR2422. 

5. The Department grants DaVita's application and denies 
NKC's application based on Section 288. 

In its evaluation, the Department determined that both applications 

would satisfy all applicable review criteria as stand-alone applications. 

Therefore, the Department applied the Section 288 standard to decide 

between the applications. AR 2449-53. DaVita and NKC each qualified 

-7-



for five of the points: training services, private room, permanent bed 

station, evening shift, and meeting the need. AR 2452. NKC also qualified 

for the economies of scale point, and therefore received a total of six 

points. AR 2452. Da Vita also qualified for the patient geographical access 

and provider choice points, and therefore received a total of seven points. 

AR 2452. Because DaVita prevailed under the Section 288 standard, seven 

points to six points, the Department approved DaVita's application and 

denied NKC's application. AR 2427. 

6. In the adjudicative proceeding commenced by NKC, the 
Department defends its reliance upon the Section 288 
criteria. 

NKC commenced an adjudicative proceeding to challenge the 

Department's decision. AR 1-48. A Health Law Judge (the "HLJ") 

conducted the requested hearing. AR 1191. 

The CON Program Analyst who wrote the Department's 

evaluation explained the rulemaking process that resulted in Section 288, 

in which "all of the dialysis providers in the community" met with 

Department staff "and determined what they believed would be tiebreaker 

points, what are important for comparing applications to each other to 

determine which is the better application." AR 1414. She also testified 

that, from the Department's perspective, Section 288 was intended to 

supersede the general superiority standard as the basis on which 
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competing dialysis facility applications must be compared. AR 1452-53. 

Finally, she explained how the points were awarded in this case, resulting 

in the Department's approval ofDaVita's application. AR 1414-19. 

7. The HLJ reverses the Department's decision, grants 
NKC's application, and denies DaVita's application, 
based on criteria other than the Section 288 standard. 

The HLJ identified two differences between the projects which he 

considered to be of particular significance. First, the HLJ found that it 

would cost Da Vita more to build its proposed new facility than it would 

cost NKC to add five stations to its existing facility. AR 1203. Second, the 

HLJ found that Da Vita would receive higher reimbursement from 

commercial insurers for dialysis services provided at its proposed facility 

than NKC receives from commercial insurers for dialysis services 

provided at its existing facility, although he did not make any findings 

quantifying these rates or the difference between them. AR 1203. 

Because NKC's project was "lower cost" than DaVita's project, 

the HLJ approved NKC's project and denied DaVita's project. AR 1203-

05 (denying Da Vita application under financial feasibility and cost 

containment criteria); see also AR 1200-01, 1203-04 (confirming that 

denial was based solely on a comparison with NKC's application, not on 

criteria as applied to Da Vita's application standing alone). 
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8. The Department and Da Vita request reconsideration, 
which the HLJ denies. 

The Department and DaVita sought reconsideration of the HLJ's 

decision. AR 1232-63, 1214-30. The Department emphasized that the 

HLJ's order "would effectively invalidate the Dialysis Tiebreaker rule by 

replacing the objective, and required, tiebreakers with a standardless and 

open-ended comparison of selected elements from the applications." AR 

1215. The Department explained that the HLJ' s "new facility standard," to 

use projected revenues as the basis to decide between competing dialysis 

facility applications "directly violates WAC 246-31 0-200(2)( a), which 

requires the Presiding Officer to use facility standards contained in chapter 

WAC 246-31 0"; "violates WAC 246-31 0-200(2)(b) because it was not 

obtained from an authorized source"; and that "[t]he ex post facto 

adoption of a new standard defeats the public comment opportunity during 

the application process" and "deprives applicants of the due process and 

fundamental fairness requirements of advance disclosure of applicable 

standards." AR 1220. 

The Department also warned that the HLJ had come up with "a 

significant new policy for the Department" that "attacks the wisdom of 

WAC 246-310-288 - adopted in consultation with kidney dialysis 

providers, including NKC" and "steer[s] the Department into uncharted 
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territory," a "bold new direction that should be undertaken only through 

rule-making with public input[.]" AR 1242. 

Finally, in an extraordinary step, the Department publicly 

expressed its concern with having to defend in the courts the HLJ's 

"casting aside the Department's objective tiebreaker rule, in favor of his 

own subjective superiority analysis." AR 1350. The Department identified 

the challenge of defending on appeal a decision in which "the HLJ has 

offered only the thinnest rationale for disregarding and not giving effect to 

the Department's own tiebreaker rule[.]" AR 1350. The HLJ denied the 

reconsideration motions. AR 1375-80. 

9. Internal Department review of HLJ decisions was not 
available at the time of the HLJ's order in this matter. 

The CON procedures have been amended to allow for 

administrative review of HLJ decisions. A healthcare provider whose 

application has been denied by an HLJ may now seek review of the HLJ 

decision by a final decision-maker appointed by the Secretary of Health. 

See RCW 18.130.050(10); WAC 246-10-701. The Department advocated 

for this new procedure precisely so that the Department could ensure 

consistency in its decision-making. See S. 63-1381, Laws of 2013, ch. 

109, at 3 (Mar. 28, 2013) ("Having the internal review with the Secretary 

will help ensure the policy approach is consistent across the agency and 
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across the different administrative law judges. . . . DOH supports 

providing an opportunity for the Secretary to complete a final review of 

administrative proceedings."). 

Unfortunately, this new procedure did not become available until a 

few weeks after the HLJ' s reconsideration order was issued, so Da Vita 

and the Department were not able to avail themselves of this procedure 

and seek review of the HLJ's action by a final Department decision-maker 

appointed by the Secretary of Health. Therefore, the HLJ' s decision that 

nullified the Department's intent in adopting Section 288 paradoxically 

became the Department's own "final" decision. 

10. Da Vita seeks judicial review of the HLJ's decision. 

DaVita sought judicial review of the HLJ's decision in Thurston 

County Superior Court. The Superior Court affirmed the HLJ's decision. 

Clerk's Papers ("CP") 185-86. DaVita then sought judicial review of the 

HLJ's decision in the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II. The case 

was transferred to Division I. The Court of Appeals affirmed the HLJ' s 

decision in a published opinion. See Da Vita HealthCare Partners, Inc. v. 

Wash. State Dep 't of Health, No. 73630-2-I (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 28, 

2015). 
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E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted. 

1. The CON laws serve an important role in the 
Washington healthcare system, and it is essential that 
they be correctly interpreted and applied statewide. 

The Supreme Court has recognized the importance of the CON 

laws to the healthcare system in Washington, and accordingly has granted 

review in several recent CON cases. 

In Washington State Hospital Association v. Washington State 

Department of Health, 183 Wn.2d 590 (20 15), the Supreme Court granted 

direct review from a superior court decision in a case involving the scope 

of hospital transactions governed by the CON laws. The Department had 

been inconsistent on this issue, historically not requiring CON review for a 

change of control of a hospital but more recently requiring such review. 

The Supreme Court's final resolution of this issue, determining that CON 

review is required only for the purchase, sale, or lease of a hospital, not 

other changes of control, ensured that healthcare providers statewide are 

treated consistently by the Department. 

In King County Public Hospital District No. 2 v. Washington State 

Department of Health, 178 Wn.2d 363 (2013), the Court granted review in 

a case involving the Department's ability to settle a dispute with a CON 

applicant notwithstanding the objections of affected persons. The Supreme 

Court's determination that the Department had the authority to issue the 
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CON to the applicant pursuant to a settlement allowed a new hospice 

provider to open a facility in King County, and gave patients a new choice 

of provider of these services. 

In Overtake Hospital Association v. Department of Health of the 

State of Washington, 170 Wn.2d 43 (2010), the Court granted review in a 

case involving the Department's need-forecasting methodology relating to 

proposed ambulatory surgical facilities. Existing providers of outpatient 

surgery argued for a restrictive interpretation of the regulatory 

methodology that would prevent the CON applicant from opening a new 

facility. The Supreme Court's rejection of this interpretation authorized 

the applicant to open a competing facility and accordingly gave patients a 

greater choice between providers and improved access to such services. 

In University of Washington Medical Center v. Washington State 

Department of Health, 164 Wn.2d 95 (2008), the Court granted direct 

review from a superior court decision in a case involving the evidentiary 

standards applied in CON adjudicative hearings. The superior court's 

decision preventing the CON applicant from providing liver transplants 

protected the existing provider's status as the monopoly provider of this 

service in Washington. The Supreme Court's reversal ended this 

monopoly by allowing the applicant to also provide this service. 

* * * 
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Like all four of these cases in which the Supreme Court granted 

review, the present case involves an interpretation of the CON laws that 

affects providers and patients statewide. However, unlike hospice facilities 

and ambulatory surgical facilities, which may be applied for a few times 

per year, or a change of control of a hospital or a new organ-transplant 

program, which may be proposed every few years, numerous dialysis 

facilities are built every year. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision in 

this case affects far more proposed facilities than did the lower courts' 

decisions in the other cases. Additionally, the Supreme Court's decisions 

in the King County Public Hospital District No. 2, Overtake Hospital 

Association, and University of Washington Medical Center cases resulted 

in increased provider choice and access to services; a ruling in favor of 

DaVita in the present case 'Yould have the same effect, consistent with 

what the Supreme Court has determined to be the overriding purpose of 

the CON laws. See discussion infra§ E.3. 

2. The Court of Appeals did not apply the principles of 
regulatory interpretation to the Department's 
regulation. 

This is a regulatory-interpretation case. But the Court of Appeals 

did not apply the principles of regulatory interpretation to Section 288. 

Had it done so, it would have concluded that the Department's original 

interpretation (and DaVita's) was correct, and that Section 288 must be 
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used as the standard to compare competing dialysis applications. These 

principles include (1) interpreting a regulation in a manner that is 

consistent with the underlying policy of the enabling statute; (2) 

construing a regulation to give effect to the agency's intent in adopting it; 

(3) recognizing that a specific regulation will supersede a general one 

when both apply; ( 4) giving effect to a more recently enacted regulation 

over an older regulation if an apparent conflict exists between them; (5) 

construing a regulation such that all language is given effect, with no 

portion rendered meaningless or superfluous; ( 6) avoiding an 

interpretation that leads to an absurd result; and (7) seeking to harmonize 

regulations whenever possible. See Overlake Hasp. Ass 'n, 170 Wn.2d at 

52 (legislative intent); Dep't of Licensing v. Cannon, 147 Wn.2d 41, 57 

(2002) (agency intent); Kustura v. Dep 't of Labor and Indus., 169 Wn.2d 

81, 88 (2010) (specific supersedes); Am. Legion Post #149 v. Dep't of 

Health, 164 Wn.2d 570, 585-86 (2008) (more recent preferred); State v. 

Hirschfelder, 170 Wn.2d 536, 543 (2010) (not rendering language 

superfluous); N Cent. Wash. Respiratory Care Servs., Inc. v. Dep 't of 

Revenue, 165 Wn. App. 616, 624 (2011) (avoiding absurd results); In Re 

Combs, 176 Wn. App. 112, 117 (2013) (harmonizing provisions). 

The Court of Appeals did not consider these principles. Instead, it 

determined that Section 288 is "plain on its face" that it is only applied if 
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neither application is "superior" to the other. See DaVita, No. 73630-2-1, 

slip op. at 12 n.6 ("Because we conclude that the language of WAC 246-

310-288 is plain on its face and unambiguous, we do not reach Da Vita's 

arguments that the legislative and agency intent favor its interpretation. 

Nor do we reach any of DaVita's arguments based on other canons of 

construction."). 

The Court of Appeals' interpretation cannot be reconciled with the 

language of Section 288 or the structure of the CON laws as a whole. 

Moreover, a court should "avoid a literal reading of a provision if it would 

result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences." Cannon, 147 Wn.2d 

at 57 (2002). The Court of Appeals' interpretation results in the unlikely, 

absurd, and strained consequence that the factors the Department 

identified, by rule, that will be used to decide between competing dialysis 

projects need not be used if there are other factors on which one 

application can be said to be superior to the other. Thus, the Court of 

Appeals not only failed to apply the principles of regulatory interpretation, 

it also misapplied the "plain language" approach it sought to follow. Cf 

Olympic Healthcare Servs. II LLC v. Dep 't of Soc. & Health Servs., 175 

Wn. App. 174, 187-88 (2013) (rejecting interpretation that "would clearly 

undermine the purpose" of regulations at issue). 
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3. The Court of Appeals' decision nullifies the 
Department's determination, through rulemaking, that 
competing dialysis projects must be compared based on 
an objective, consistent, and balanced set of criteria. 

The Legislature's "overriding purpose" in enacting the CON laws 

was to "promote, maintain, and assure the health of all citizens in the state, 

provide accessible health services, health manpower, health facilities"; 

"controlling costs" was "of secondary significance[.]" Overtake Hasp. 

Ass 'n, 170 Wn.2d at 55 (emphasis added). The Department's intent in 

adopting Section 288 was to create an objective, consistent, and balanced 

approach to deciding between competing applications. The rule expressly 

takes into account "access" to facilities through the "patient geographical 

access" point, and implicitly does so through the training services, bed 

station, isolation room, evening shift, and provider choice points. 

The Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with the legislative 

intent in enacting the enabling statute, because the decision allowed cost 

control to become paramount, and the Department's intent in adopting 

Section 288, because the decision allowed dialysis applications to be 

compared based on cost alone, without regard to other factors such as 

provider choice and geographic access. 
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4. The Court of Appeals' decision will harm Washington's 
healthcare system and dialysis patients statewide. 

NKC is the monopoly provider of dialysis services in the King 4 

planning area. It operates 25 dialysis stations at the only dialysis center in 

the planning area; no other dialysis provider is authorized to operate a 

single station. 

The Department's regulatory standard balances several factors. 

The "economies of scale" point favors existing facilities, whereas the 

"'patient geographical access" point favors new facilities. The "historical 

provider" point rewards an established provider, while the "provider 

choice" point rewards new providers. Several points, including for an 

isolation room and an evening shift, are easier for large facilities to satisfy, 

but also can be obtained by smaller facilities. But the key point is that all 

of these factors were included in Section 288 because the Department 

determined them to be important, and all of these factors, by rule, must be 

considered in comparing dialysis projects. 

The HLJ' s approach, determined to be correct by the Court of

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