RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Apr 25, 2016, 1:31 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 92746-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS, INC.,

Appellant,

٧.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, ET AL.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT NORTHWEST KIDNEY CENTERS'
RESPONSE TO DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNER INC.'S
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Douglas C. Ross, WSBA #12811 Rebecca J. Francis, WSBA #41196 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Northwest Kidney Centers

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. This Case Involves a Narrow Regulatory Interpretation Issue that Does Not Warrant Review

The Court should deny DaVita's motion for discretionary review because, far from presenting an issue of substantial public interest, this case involves the narrow question whether the plain language of the tie-breaker regulation, WAC 246-310-288, requires a threshold determination that competing kidney dialysis applicants satisfied all four CN criteria in WAC 246-310-210 to -240, including the comparative superiority analysis in -240(1), before reaching the tie-breaker. Because the critical subregulation, -288, applies only to kidney dialysis providers, this case has limited application even in the healthcare context.

The cases on which DaVita relies for the proposition that the Court should take review any time a case involves the CN law do not justify review in this case. DaVita Mot. at 13-14. At issue in *King County Public Hospital District No. 2 v. Washington State Department of Health*, 178 Wn.2d 363 (2013), was whether the HLJ correctly approved a settlement over the objections of three hospice providers who had intervened to comment and oppose the settlement, and whether the HLJ violated the intervenors' due process rights. *Id.* at 371. The dispute involved many health care providers and the rights that interested parties with standing to

obtain judicial review of CN decisions have under the CN law. *Id.* at 380-81. The latter issue extended beyond the immediate hospice providers in that case to all health care providers and thus had broad impact.

Similarly, in *University of Washington Medical Center v.*Washington State Department of Health, 164 Wn.2d 95 (2008), the Court accepted review to resolve the scope of evidence relevant in an adjudicative proceeding before a health law judge. *Id.* at 103-04. As in King County Public Hospital District No. 2, the case presented an issue whose resolution would apply broadly to all health care providers, not just to the liver transplant provider in that case.

Here, by contrast, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of WAC 246-310-288 will never extend beyond a narrow scope of providers: kidney dialysis providers. This case does not raise questions concerning the rights of interested parties. It does not involve the intervention of numerous health care providers. It does not impact the scope of evidence admissible in adjudicative proceedings. This case presents a narrow question concerning how to read the plain language of a sub-regulation.

The fact the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the plain language of the sub-regulation (-288) only reinforces this conclusion. The regulation states "*[i]f* two or more applications meet *all* applicable review criteria ... the department will use tie-breakers to determine which

application or applications will be approved." WAC 246-310-288 (emphasis added). By its own terms, -288 makes clear the Program can apply the tie-breakers only if the two applications meet "all" review criteria, not just *some* review criteria. The Court of Appeals held the plain language of -288 "is clear." The tie-breakers "are applied only if both applications first satisfy all other review criteria in WAC 246-310-210, -220, -230, and -240." DaVita, 192 Wn. App. at 115.

The Court also correctly held that in reviewing CN applications under WAC 246-310-240(1), the Program must compare the applications to each other, rather than analyze them in isolation, as the Program incorrectly did. *Id.* at 116. Under -240(1), the Department must determine whether "[s]uperior alternatives, in terms of cost, efficiency, or effectiveness, are not available or practicable." WAC 246-310-240(1). In a concurrent review, such as this one, the Department must "compare[] the applications to one another and these rules." WAC 246-310-280(3). The governing statute is specific on this: the Department must compare "competing or similar projects in order to determine which of the projects may best meet identified needs." RCW 70.38.115(7).

Thus, the Court correctly interpreted -288 as requiring the Program to conduct a comparative superiority analysis under -240(1) to determine if a tie between competing applicants actually exists so as to trigger the

tie-breakers in -288 (i.e., the competing applicants satisfy all the criteria in -210 to -240, and are substantially equal under -240(1)).

The clarity of -288 distinguishes this case from *Overlake Hospital Ass'n v. Department of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 43 (2010), on which DaVita relies. DaVita Mot. at 14. In *Overlake* the Court of Appeals failed to defer to the Department's interpretation of an ambiguous CN regulation. *Id.* at 53-55. The ambiguity created the Court's "need to resolve the dispute." *Id.* at 55. No such ambiguity exists here.

Further, because WAC 246-310-288 (as well as -200, -240, and -284) is clear and unambiguous, the Program's supposed intent in drafting -288 is irrelevant and cannot justify discretionary review. DaVita Mot. at 5-6, 8, 16-18. "[W]hen faced with an unambiguous regulation, [as here], the court may *not* speculate as to the intent of the regulation or add words to the regulation." *Children's Hosp. & Med. Ctr. v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 95 Wn. App. 858, 869 n.19 (1999) (emphasis added) (quoting *MultiCare Med. Ctr. v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 114 Wn.2d 572, 591 (1990)); *see also Overlake*, 170 Wn.2d at 52.

DaVita's intent arguments do not bring this case within RAP 13.4(b)(4).⁵

⁵ Olympic Healthcare Servs. II, LLC v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 175 Wn. App. 174 (2013), on which DaVita relies, DaVita Mot. at 17, does not change this statutory interpretation rule. And the same holds true for the sundry other principles of statutory

B. This Case Involves a Well-Settled Regulatory Interpretation Issue

This case involves not just narrow, regulatory issue, but also a well-settled one. Since 2009, three different HLJs in four different proceedings have held -240(1) requires a threshold comparative superiority analysis and the plain language of -288 does not change that. AR 871-73; AR 834-75. The two HLJ decisions in 2009, and the HLJ decision in this case (issued in March 2013) were, as DaVita acknowledges, the final decisions of the Department. *See* DaVita Mot. at 11-12; *DaVita, Inc. v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 137 Wn. App. 174, 182 (2007) (HLJ, as Secretary's designee, had "authority to make final decisions"); *King Cnty.*, 178 Wn.2d at 366.

In this case, the Department has repeatedly advocated a plain language reading of the regulations. It argued in the Superior Court that "the WAC 246-310-288 tiebreakers should be applied only *after* the Department determines under WAC 246-310-240 that one application is not superior to the competing application." CP 169 (emphasis in original). *In the Department's words*, "the WAC 246-310-240 superiority analysis

interpretation that DaVita cites. DaVita Mot. at 16-17. "When [as here] the statutory language is plain, the statute is not open to construction or interpretation." *Green River Community Coll. v. Higher Ed. Personnel Bd.*, 95 Wn.2d 108, 113 (1980).

⁶ See also In re Evaluation Dated Oct. 27, 2014 of the Cert. of Need App'ns Submitted by Nw. Kidney Ctrs., Fresenius Med. Care Holdings, Inc., & DaVita Health Care Partners, Inc., Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Initial Order, M2015-102, at 21-22 (Oct. 28, 2015) (reaching same plain language interpretation).

should not be discarded in favor of simply applying the tiebreakers as the means for comparing two competing applications." *Id.* In the Court of Appeals the Department argued that "the plain language of WAC 246-310-288 ... requires that the tie-breakers will be applied *only* when the competing applicants meet 'all applicable review criteria." App. B. (Br. of Resp. Dep't of Health at 11) (emphasis in original).

Most recently, in March 2016, in a separate proceeding, the Review Officer (with final agency authority since July 2013) again held the Program must review competing applications under -240 before turning, if necessary, to the tie-breakers in -288. App. A at 10. In doing so, the Review Officer rightly rejected DaVita's "nullity" argument, explaining the plain language interpretation "does not render the tie-breakers in -288 meaningless since it is possible for a concurrent review to result in a finding that no application is superior." *Id.* at 10.

Thus, the Court of Appeals' plain language interpretation has been the Department's consistent interpretation since 2009, and the consistent interpretation of every decision-maker to consider the issue since 2009. This interpretation "is entitled to 'substantial deference' on judicial review." App. B. at 11-12 (quoting *Overlake Hosp.*, 170 Wn.2d at 49-50). The Court correctly interpreted the plain language of -288 and in doing so, deferred to the Department's consistent interpretation.

These circumstances distinguish this case from *Washington State Hospital Ass'n v. Washington State Department of Health* ("WSHA"), 183 Wn.2d 590 (2015). DaVita Mot. at 13. As DaVita acknowledges, the Court took review in *WSHA* because, for more than two decades, the Department had interpreted a critical CN statute one way, before issuing a rule that changed its interpretation of the statute, and that did so in a way that went well beyond the plain language of the statute. *Id.*; *WSHA*, 183 Wn.2d at 593. No such inconsistency justifying review exists here.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Benefits the Public

DaVita suggests the Court should take review because the Court of Appeals' decision will somehow harm the public. DaVita Mot. at 19-20. In particular, DaVita complains the Court's decision will "prevent any new facilities from being approved." *Id.* But the goal of the CN law is not to encourage building of "new" facilities; rather, the goal is to "control[] the number of healthcare providers entering the market," so as to contain cost and improve access. *King Cnty.*, 178 Wn.2d at 366. If, all else being equal, the choice is between a provider who proposes spending \$2 million to build a new facility and a provider who proposes spending \$100,000 to expand an existing facility to fulfill the same need, it makes sense the latter will be the "superior" alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and effectiveness. WAC 246-310-240(1); RCW 70.38.115(1)(e), (g), (h).

But if all else is not equal a "new" facility could win a CN depending on other objective cost containment factors, such as the cost of the other facility (i.e., if the disparity were not large), commercial reimbursement rates and expenses per treatment, and quality of care. DaVita appears to argue it is unfair that its new facility was not approved despite the facts which, as the HLJ found them, showed: (1) "DaVita's capital costs were 19 times that of NKC's"; (2) "NKC's expenses per treatment would thus be significantly lower than DaVita's"; (3) DaVita seeks and obtains higher commercial reimbursement rates than NKC; and (4) NKC could (and ultimately did) provide the service immediately, while DaVita could not do so for at least six to seven months. *DaVita*, 192 Wn. App. at 120. The HLJ's and the courts' decisions in this case have meant the patients who needed care received it immediately and have received it for nearly three years. The outcome here benefited the public.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny DaVita's motion for discretionary review.

⁷ Capital costs and commercial reimbursement rates are objective factors that HLJs and courts have long considered when reviewing CN applications; they are not unpredictable, unanticipated "ad hoc" factors, as DaVita argues. DaVita Mot. at 4-6, 18; *DaVita, Inc. v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 137 Wn. App. 174, 177 (2007). The HLJ, and the Court of Appeals, focused on cost because that was the evidence in the record: DaVita presented no evidence it would provide better geographic access or quality care. CP 79 ¶ 1.8; *DaVita*, 192 Wn. App. at 117-18.